I. INTRODUCTION 

In September of 2005 a talented young woman (Sarah Block) was 

rendered mentally and physical incompetent for the rest of her life by the 

actions of a drunk driver. Sarah's parents hired the Barcus firm to 

represent Sarah under a written contingent fee agreement. 

Sarah Block's case was characterized by unquestioned liability, 

uniquely high available insurance coverage and catastrophic damages. It 

took little effort or time for the Barcus law firm to get an initial 

$2,100,000 settlement. Barcus' associate prepared a seven and a half page 

settlement demand about two months after the accident. Farmer's tendered 

its policy limits of $2, 1 00,000 two weeks after receiving the demand. 

Another $200,000 recovery followed with little effort. 

Barcus had his friend Peter Kram appointed as Terri Block's 

lawyer in the guardianship. Unknown until years later, Kram also 

represented the Barcus' firm with regard to Sarah's claims. When Terri 

presented her concerns about the large fees taken by Barcus, Kram 

defended Barcus and personally attacked Terri.l When Terri obtained 

independent counsel, Barcus and Kram actively sought to hinder Terri's 

efforts to have their fees investigated, and obtained orders restricting her 

ability to do so. Despite their efforts, Terri was ultimately granted court 

1 For simplicity and to avoid confusion, Terri Block and Sarah Block will be referred 
to by their first names. 



authority to sue Barcus and Kram as guardian for her daughter. In this 

action, she sought to void the Barcus written contingent fee agreement, a 

determination of the reasonableness of Barcus and Kram's fees, and the 

disgorgement of their fees based on breaches of fiduciary duties. She also 

sought damages from Kram for malpractice. 

Barcus and Kram filed motions for summary judgment seeking a 

dismissal of all of Terri's claims based on statute oflimitations and laches 

claims. The trial court improperly granted summary judgment on the basis 

of statutes of limitations. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in granting Barcus' Motion for Summary 

Judgment dismissing all of plaintiffs claims, presumably based on a 

three-year statute of limitations. CP 1353-4. 

2. The trial court erred in granting Kram's Motion for Summary 

Judgment dismissing all of plaintiffs claims, presumably based on a 

three-year statute oflimitations. CP 1355-6 

3. The trial court erred in denying Block's Motion for 

Reconsideration. CP 1393-5. 
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III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment by not tolling 

the running of statutes oflimitations under RCW 4.l 6.l 90(1 ) when it is 

undisputed that Sarah Block has been permanently incompetent and 

disabled since before this action arose? 

a. Were defendants' summary judgment claims of an 

exception to tolling under TEDRA insufficient to support a 

dismissal of plaintiffs claims when defendants did not 

identify any legal or factual basis for the claimed 

exception? 

b. Was a dismissal of plaintiffs claim based on a TEDRA 

exception to tolling improper when the exception by its 

definitions does not apply to this case? 

c. IfTEDRA could apply, are there questions of material fact 

whether the TEDRA exception to tolling applies to Block's 

claims? 

d. Is defendants' claimed exception to tolling under RCW 

4.l6.190(1) unconstitutional under Schroederv. Weighall, 

179 Wn2d 566, 316 P.3d482 (2014)? 
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2. Did the court err in granting summary judgment dismissing 

plaintiff s claims when she filed her action before the expiration of 

the six-year statute oflimitations for contract disputes? 

a. Does RCW 4.16.040(1)'s six-year statute oflimitations 

apply to all or some of plaintiffs claims? 

b. Was plaintiffs action filed within the six-year limitations 

period, or do material questions of fact exist regarding 

whether the action was timely filed? 

c. Are there issues of material fact regarding the beginning 

and ending dates of the statute of limitations? 

3. If a three-year statute of limitations applies to plaintiff s claims, 

did the trial court err in granting summary judgment dismissing 

plaintiff s action where: 

a. There are issues of material fact regarding the date at which 

the statue began to run, 

b. There are issues of material fact regarding the date the 

statute of limitations expired based on the continuous 

representation rule, 

c. Not all of plaintiffs claims, ifany, would be subject to the 

three-year statute of limitations? 
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4. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment dismissing 

plaintiff's action when material questions of fact exist regarding 

the running of statutes of limitations under the discovery rule? 

5. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment dismissing 

plaintiff's action when issues of material fact exist on questions of 

equitable tolling and equitable estoppel because defendants 

obstructed plaintiff's efforts to be able to bring this action? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On September 12,2005 Sarah Block ("Sarah") was a young woman with a 

bright future until she was severely injured by Rosalie Meeks, an 

intoxicated driver speeding the wrong way on a freeway. Since her injury, 

Sarah remains profoundly physically and mentally disabled. A 

guardianship for Sarah was required, and her mother, Terri Block, the 

Appellant, was appointed Sarah's guardian. CP 248-56. Terri acts here as 

guardian for the benefit of Sarah's special needs trust. Wells Fargo Bank 

is the trustee of Sarah's funds. 

A. Procedural History 

Terri signed a retainer agreement with the Barcus firm the day 

after Sarah's injuries. CP 22-3. Barcus selected his friend, Peter Kram, to 

serve as attorney for Terri and/or the guardianship. CP 1086, §7. Until he 

was replaced, Kram represented to the Court that he was acting as attorney 
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for the guardian or attorney for the guardianship. Kram admits in his 

answer to plaintiffs complaint at paragraph 3.5 that was the role he 

claimed. CP 42. Unknown to Terri, Kram had a serious conflict of interest 

because he also represented Barcus regarding Sarah's claims. CP 1204. 

The ramifications of this conflict are discussed below. 

Barcus' office had to do very little to obtain the $2,100,000 in 

policy limits from Farmers Insurance, which was the UIM insurer for the 

car Sarah was driving when she was injured. The accident occurred on 

September li\ 2005. On November 16,2005, barely two months after the 

accident, Kari Lester, Barcus' associate, prepared and sent a 7 Yz page 

settlement letter to Farmers. At the time, the Barcus firm did not even 

know the total amount of medical bills incurred to that date for Sarah's 

care. It was clear that Sarah's needs and damages were only beginning. CP 

267-74. Lester evidently sent the supporting medical records to the wrong 

address, nevertheless, within two weeks, Farmer's tendered its full limits 

without dispute or negotiation. CP 1329, 1330. Barcus claimed his one 

third contingent fees on the total settlement, less costs, and paid himself 

$695,602.50 in fees for the UIM settlement. CP 1301. 

Meeks' car insurance limit of $1 00,000 was tendered to Barcus 

without a settlement demand on October 31, 2005. CP 346. Another 

$100,000 was obtained by settlement from Meeks' estate. Barcus paid 
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himself an additional fee of $66,666.67 for the Meeks settlement. CP 

1201. 

When Terri learned about the nearly $700,000 in attorney's fees 

Barcus took from Sarah's UIM settlement, she contacted her attorney, 

Peter Kram, to object. Kram verbally abused Terri, telling her to "shut 

up," and refused to consider her questions regarding the reasonableness of 

the fees. CP 784. Over time, Terri became convinced that Kram was more 

concerned about representing the interests of Barcus than Sarah. In 2008 

Terri sought to replace Kram with Eileen Peterson of Gordon Thomas 

Honeywell in Tacoma. A notice of substitution of counsel was filed with 

the guardianship court on December 9, 2008. CP 777. Ms. Peterson 

immediately filed a petition with the guardianship court seeking 

authorization to have the trust pay a $10,000 retainer to obtain a review of 

the reasonableness of Barcus' fees. CP 779-89. 

Notice of the petition to seek review of Barcus' fees was provided 

to the trustee for Sarah's funds, James Bush. Mr. Bush, a Tacoma 

attorney, evidently notified Barcus and Kram of Terri's intention to seek a 

review of their fees. CP 1109. Without invitation or standing, Mr. Barcus 

appeared in the guardianship court to oppose the authorization of any 

funds for the investigation of the reasonableness of his own fees. CP 1253-

59. In opposing the investigation, he threatened both Terri and Sarah's 
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future financial well-being. CP 1257-8. The guardianship court denied the 

request for $10,000 so that the guardianship might investigate the matter 

of the fees, ordering that Terri could only proceed as a private person with 

her own funds, and that she could take no further action without order of 

the court. CP 656. 

Terri was later able to raise personal funds to pay an initial retainer 

for the review of Barcus' fees. CP 1119. To review the matter, Terri's 

counsel requested copies of her files from both Barcus and Kram. CP 

1140, 1143. These lawyers not only refused to provide the files to which 

Terri was entitled under WSBA Ethics Opinion 181, but Barcus and Kram 

took the unusual step of filing motions for protective orders in the 

guardianship court to permit them to deny Terri her files. They also 

objected to Terri's lawyers requesting information regarding the handling 

of Sarah's personal injury claims from Farmers Insurance and other 

parties, and opposed any investigation into the reasonableness of their 

fees. CP 1152-67, 1216-51. Terri's counsel filed a motion to require 

Barcus and Kram to produce their files, and for permission to obtain 

information from third parties regarding the handling of Sarah's claims. 

CP 1261-74. At the hearing on the matter, Barcus opposed any 

investigation into his fees. His stated is purpose was to ask "the Court to 

not allow this train to leave the station ... " CP 1236. 
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On February 10, 2012, the guardianship court entered an order 

requiring Barcus and Kram to tum their files over to Terri's lawyers. 

However, at the urging of Barcus and Kram, they were permitted to take 

out whatever they considered "work product" without having to tell Terri's 

lawyers what materials they removed from their files before turning them 

over to counsel. In addition, at the urging of Barcus, Terri's lawyers were 

prohibited from requesting any information regarding the underlying 

claims from Farmers Insurance Company, the guardian ad litem, the 

trustee or any other third parties, or from conducting any discovery 

without the explicit order of the court. CP 1277-9. 

Once Barcus and Kram finally turned their files over to Block's 

counsel, they were reviewed by Terri's lawyers. Michael Caryl, whose 

practice focuses on reasonableness of attorney's fees, prepared the report 

authorized by the guardianship court in the 2009 order. That report (CP 

1181-91) was submitted to support Terri's petition seeking pern1ission to 

sue Barcus and Kram as guardian. CP 918-34. On January 25, 2013 the 

guardianship court entered an order lifting the restrictions on discovery 

entered earlier, and authorized Terri to bring this action as guardian for her 

daughter. CP 19-20. Only then could this action be prepared and filed. 
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B. Summary Judgment 

Terri's claims against Barcus and Kram were filed in King County 

on May 13, 2013. CP 1. After a stipulated change of case assignment 

area, the case was assigned to the Hon. Laura Inveen. Upon summary 

judgment motions by Barcus and Kram, the trial court dismissed all of 

Terri's claims, based on statute oflimitations grounds. CP 1353-6. Terri 

moved for reconsideration. CP 1359-92. The trial court denied that motion 

without requiring a response from defendants. CP 1393-5. Terri now 

seeks review of the trial court's summary dismissal of her claims. 

Defendants' motions for summary judgment did not distinguish 

between Ms. Block's causes of action or discuss the statutes of limitations 

to be applied to each. They simply asked the court to apply the general 

three-year limitation applicable to legal malpractice claims. CP 566. 

Contrary to the defendants' characterization of Terri's claims, her 

complaint sought: (1) to void Barcus' written contingent fee agreement for 

violations of fiduciary duties (CP 11-13); (2) a determination ofthe 

reasonableness of the fees paid to Barcus and Kram (CP 13); (3) the 

forfeiture of fees by Barcus and Kram for breach of fiduciary duties (CP 

14), and (4) damages resulting from Kram's malpractice (CP 14-15). As 

is explained below, none of these claims are barred by statutes of 

limitations. The guardianship's claims are not only based on the fact that 
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the fees were unreasonable, but that Barcus and Kram circumvented and 

violated court rules (SPR 98.16W) and ethics requirements designed to 

protect incapacitated persons in the settlement of their personal injury 

claims. See generally Guardian's Response to Barcus Defendants' Motion 

for Summary Judgment, CP 1005-14. 

v. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

When reviewing an order for summary judgment, appellate courts 

engage in the same inquiry as the trial court, and will affirm summary 

judgment only if there is no genuine issue of any material fact and the 

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Questions of law 

are reviewed de novo. Wilson Court Ltd. Partnership v. Tony 

Maroni's, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 692, 698, 952 P.2d 590 (1998); see also CR 

56. 

B. All Statutes of Limitations Were Tolled by Sarah Block's Severe 
Disability. 

Summary: Sarah was severely and permanently disabled, both 

mentally and physically, when she was hit head-on by Ms. Meeks. 

Defendants do not dispute her disability. In response to defendants' 

summary judgment motions, Terri invoked the tolling statute protecting 

incapacitated persons, RCW 4.16.190( 1). In their replies, defendants 
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claimed an exception to tolling under RCW 11. 96A.070( 4), a portion of 

the TEDRA2 statute. 

TEDRA specifically incorporates the incompetency tolling statute 

RCW 4.16.190( 1) with three limited exceptions. Barcus and Kram did not 

disclose to the trial court what sections of TEDRA they claimed applied to 

Terri's claims, nor did they disclose which of Terri's claims fell within 

the TEDRA tolling exceptions. In dismissing all of Block's claims, the 

trial court did not disclose if or how any TEDRA exception to tolling may 

apply. 

1. RCW 4.16.190(1) Disability Tolling Protects Sarah. 

It is unnecessary to determine which statute of limitations may 

apply to each cause of action, or when the statute of limitations on each 

claim commenced or expired. All statutes of limitations have been tolled 

since the date since Sarah was injured because of her undisputed disability 

and incompetency. RCW 4.l6.190(1) provides: 

Unless otherwise provided in this section, if a person 
entitled to bring an action mentioned in this chapter, except 
for a penalty or forfeiture, or against a sheriff or other 
officer, for an escape, be at the time the cause of action 
accrued either under the age of eighteen years, or 
incompetent or disabled to such a degree that he or she 

2 The overall purpose ofTEDRA is to set forth generally applicable statutory 
provisions for the resolution of disputes and other matters involving trusts and estates in a 
single chapter under Title I I RCW. RCW 11.96A.OIO. 

12 



cannot understand the nature of the proceedings, such 
incompetency or disability as determined according to 
chapter 11.88 RCW, or imprisoned on a criminal charge 
prior to sentencing, the time of such disability shall not be a 
part of the time limited for the commencement of action. 

The appointment of a guardian does not affect the tolling of the 

statute. In Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 

(1989) the Supreme Court held that, "The tolling statute's plain language 

indicates that the right it confers on the 'person entitled to bring an action' 

is not diminished by the appointment of a guardian. The words 'the time 

of such disability' refer to the person's disabling condition itself, not 

merely the disability to bring suit." Young at 221. Quoting the majority 

rule, the Court said: 

In case of the appointment of a guardian ad litem for an 
infant, it is held that such guardian can sue within the 
prescribed period of limitation, but is not obligated to do 
so, and that if he fails to sue, or having instituted an action 
within the statutory period, discontinues it, the rights of the 
infant are not prejudiced thereby, and he may still take 
advantage of his disability. 

Young at 223-224. The court held that the same rule applies to an 

incompetent. Respondents in Young (at p. 224) argued this construction of 

RCW 4.16.190 would result in the statute of limitations never running in 

the case of a permanently disabled or incompetent person. The Supreme 

Court rejected the argument, saying it would not imply exceptions to 
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statutes of limitations when they had not been expressly provided by the 

Legislature. 

Young was affirmed in Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 164 

Wn.2d 264, 189 P.3d 753 (2008). Rivas also a medical negligence case. 

The Court pointed out that the legislature had amended the guardianship 

statutes several times since the Young decision, but none showed 

disapproval of the Young opinion. The Court held RCW 4.16.190 has four 

factors plaintiffs must satisfy to toll the statute of limitations based upon 

incompetence or disability: 

Plaintiffs must show that (1) they are entitled to bring the action, 
(2) they are incapacitated at the time the cause of action accrues, 
(3) they are incompetent or disabled to the degree that they cannot 
understand the nature of the proceedings, and (4) the incompetency 
or disability exists as "determined according to chapter 11.88 
RCW. 

Rivas at 268. In Rivas there was a question of fact concerning the degree 

and duration of the incompetency ofthe plaintiff. That is not an issue here, 

as everyone agrees about the profound disability that Sarah has suffered 

since the night she was hit by Meeks. Defendants Barcus admit in their 

answer that Sarah Block "is unable to care for herself due to severe 

physical and mental disabilities ... " CP 27, §3.1 Defendants Kram admit 

the same, using the same language in their answer at CP 41, §3 .1. Sarah 

was found to be disabled according to chapter 11.88 when her mother was 
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appointed guardian. CP 248-56. Sarah is still disabled and incompetent. 

See Declaration of Eileen Peterson (CP 1100-10), Declaration of Terri 

Block (CP 1084-94), and Declaration Andrea Greenfeld, M.D. (CP 1095-

99). Neither Barcus nor Kram have in any manner disputed that Sarah's 

disability meets the requirements of RCW 4.16.190( 1). 

Barcus and Kram claim that the enactment of the TEDRA statute 

supersedes the tolling provisions of RCW 4.16.190(1) and thereby 

overrules the application of Young and Rivas to this TEDRA matters. CP 

1334. However, TEDRA plainly states the opposite. The exception relied 

on by Barcus and Kram begins by specifically adopting the tolling statute 

by saying, "The tolling provisions of RCW 4.16.190 apply to this 

chapter ... ". RCW 11.96A.070(4). 

2. Defendants' Claimed TEDRA Defense to Tolling Is 
Insufficient on its Face. 

Defendants claimed an exception to the tolling statute for the first 

time in their summary judgment motion replies, relying on RCW 

11.96A.070( 4), which provides: 

The tolling provisions of RCW 4.16.190 apply to this 
chapter except that the running of a statute of limitations 
under subsection (1) or (2) of this section, or any other 
applicable statute of limitations for any matter that is the 
subject of dispute under this chapter, is not tolled as to an 
individual who had a guardian ad litem, limited or general 
guardian of the estate, or a special representative to 
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represent the person during the probate or dispute 
resolution proceeding. 

Defendants failed to meet their burden for summary judgment in 

raising the TEDRA exceptions to tolling. They never disclosed why they 

contend that Block's claims against them fall within Chapter 11, or how 

any ofthe three limited exceptions may apply. (See defendants' summary 

judgment replies, CP 1334-1340 and CP 1341-52) 

This is not a TEDRA action arising under Title 11. Block makes 

no claims against Barcus, Kram or any trustee concerning the 

administration of Sarah's special needs trust or any estate. Sarah's 

personal injury claims were not brought under TEDRA. The requirements 

for approving settlements and attorney's fees in SPR 98.16W are not part 

of Title 11. The requirements that fees claimed by attorneys be reasonable 

do not arise under TEDRA or Title 11, but RPC 1.5(a). Defendants'

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