111421

No. 71742-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TERRI BLOCK, as guardian of SARAH BLOCK

Appellant,

v.

THE LAW OFFICES OF BEN F. BARCUS & ASSOCIATES, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company, BEN F. BARCUS and JANE DOE BARCUS, individually and the marital community comprised thereof; LEGGETT & KRAM, a Washington Partnership; PETER KRAM and JANE DOE KRAM, individually and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS THE LAW OFFICES OF BEN F. BARCUS & ASSOCIATES, PLLC and BEN F. BARCUS and JANE DOE BARCUS

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

Block's repeated references to the Rules of Professional Conduct do not alter this analysis, because there is no civil cause of action for violation of the RPCs. *Hizey*, 119 Wn.2d at 258-62.² Although a Superior Court may impose disciplinary sanctions ancillary to civil claims for which it has jurisdiction, *Danzig v. Danzig*, 79 Wn. App. 612, 620, 904 P.2d 312 (1995), a Superior Court lacks jurisdiction to impose such penalties where the underlying civil claims are not cognizable. *Id.* at 621; *Ang v. Martin*, 118 Wn. App. 553, 564, 76 P.3d 787 (2003) (client is not entitled to disgorgement

-

² Even were the Court to recognize such a civil cause of action arising under the Rules of Professional Conduct independent from a civil claim for breach of fiduciary duty, it would still be untimely. RCW 4.16.005 states that "except when in special cases a different limitation is prescribed by a statute not contained in this chapter, actions can only be commenced within the periods provided in this chapter after the cause of action has accrued. RCW 4.24.005 arguably prescribes such a limitation period applicable to claims related to the reasonableness of fees in tort cases, as discussed *infra*. But if that statute were not controlling for some reason, because no other statute prescribes a different limitation period for violations of the RPCs, any such claims would fall under the two-year "catch-all" applicable to "[a]n action for relief not hereinbefore provided for." RCW (Footnote continued)

where it fails to establish merits of the case), *aff'd*, 154 Wn.2d 477 (2005).³ And even if the civil claims are cognizable, the time for a court to address ancillary disciplinary issues is *after* such claims are adjudicated. *Behnke v. Aherns*, 172 Wn. App. 281, 288, 294 P.3d 729 (2012).

2. Block's Tort Claims Are Untimely

a. Block's Claims Are Barred by RCW
4.24.005 Which Requires That Challenges to
the Reasonableness of Fees in Tort Cases to
Be Filed 45 Days After Receipt of Final
Billing

Block's claims for breach of fiduciary duty are time-barred. First, RCW 4.24.005 establishes a statute of limitations specific to claims challenging the reasonableness of fees in tort matters, which expires 45 days from the date of a final billing, as follows:

Any party charged with the payment of attorney's fees in any tort action may petition the court not later than forty-five days of receipt of a final billing or accounting for a determination of the reasonableness of that party's attorneys' fees.

Based on the undisputed facts, the deadline to challenge the UIM fee under this statute passed in May 2006. While the continuing representation rule does not apply in this case (see *infra*), it would make no difference, as it

^{4.16.130.} Block missed the three-year statute of limitations applicable to tort claims (see *infra*). Claims subject to a two-year statute are untimely as well.

³ To the extent that free-standing RPC violations can be litigated in civil courts, the Washington Supreme Court has *exclusive* original jurisdiction over such (Footnote continued)

would extend the time to challenge the reasonableness of the UIM fee until only August 2008. Nor is this limitation period subject to tolling under RCW 4.16.190, on which Block seeks to rely. *Barrett v. Friese*, 119 Wn. App. 823, 849-50, 82 P.3d 1179 (2003) ("[R]eliance upon the general tolling statute, RCW 4.16.190 is misplaced," because it doesn't apply to Chapter 4.24 of the RCW.).

This statute governs all of Block's claims, regardless of label. The gravamen of all of her claims is that the Barcus firm collected an unreasonable fee in the UIM matter. Allowing Block to end-run a statute that applies specifically to such claims by simply calling them some other form of cause of action would, in effect, read this statute out of existence. This is contrary to every tenet of statutory construction. *See Nisqually Delta Ass'n v. City of DuPont*, 95 Wn.2d 563, 568, 627 P.2d 956 (1981) ("Whenever possible, courts should avoid a statutory construction which nullifies, voids or renders meaningless or superfluous any section or words."); *Taylor v. City of Redmond*, 89 Wn.2d 315, 320, 571 P.2d 1388 (1977) (same); *Miller v. Sybouts*, 97 Wn.2d 445, 448, 645 P.2d 1082 (1982) ("Under the rules of statutory construction, a specific provision controls over one that is general in nature."); *see also*, RCW 4.16.005 (noting that chapter prescribes limitations

"claims." See Hahn v. The Boeing Co., 95 Wn.2d 28, 34, 621 P.2d 1263 (1980); See also, RCW 2.48.060.

for actions covered by that chapter – e.g., breach of fiduciary duty – but is inapplicable when "a different limitation is prescribed by a statute not contained in this chapter").

b. Block's Claims Are Barred Even If
Governed by the Three-Year Statute
Generally Applicable to Breach of Fiduciary
Duty Claims

Block's claims would also not survive were the Court to disregard the above statute, and instead apply the general statute of limitations applicable to breach of fiduciary duty claims, i.e., three years from discovery. RCW 4.16.080(2) (statute of limitations for breach of fiduciary duty claim is three years); *Meryhew v. Gillingham*, 77 Wn. App. 752, 755, 893 P.2d 692 (1995) (three-year statute of limitations of RCW 4.16.080 applies to breach of fiduciary duty claims); *Douglas v. Stanger*, 101 Wn. App. 243, 256, 2 P.3d 998 (2000) (discovery rule applies to fiduciary duty claims). Block "discovered," i.e., was on inquiry notice of her claims, in April 2006; a three-year statute would have run by April 2009.

Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when the client "discovers, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered the facts which give rise to his or her cause of action." *Cawdrey v. Hanson Baker Ludlow Drumheller P.S.*, 129 Wn. App. 810, 816, 120 P.3d 605 (2005). For the claim to accrue and the limitations period to commence

running, the plaintiff "need not know of the legal cause of action itself." *Id.* at 816-17. Rather, all that is required is that the plaintiff knew or should have known "the facts that give rise" to the claim. *See id.* at 817; *Huff v. Roach*, 125 Wn. App. 724, 729, 106 P.3d 268 (2005). Further, a plaintiff bears the burden of proving that the facts giving rise to the claim were not and could not have been discovered by due diligence within the applicable limitations period. *G.W. Constr. Corp. v. Prof'l Serv. Indus., Inc.*, 70 Wn. App. 360, 367, 853 P.2d 484 (1993).

One who has notice of facts sufficient to put him on inquiry is deemed to have notice of all facts which reasonable inquiry would disclose. *Clare v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 129 Wn. App. 599, 603, 123 P.3d 465 (2005). Thus, the claim accrues, and the statute of limitations begins to run, when a plaintiff "reasonably suspects" that a specific wrongful act has occurred, and not when conclusive proof of harm is established:

A smoking gun is not necessary to commence the limitation period. An injured claimant who reasonably suspects that a specific wrongful act has occurred is on notice that legal action must be taken. At that point, the potential harm with which the discovery rule is concerned – that remedies may expire before the claimant is aware of the cause of action – has evaporated. The claimant has only to file suit within the limitation period and use the civil discovery rules within that action to determine whether the evidence necessary to prove the cause of action is obtainable. If the discovery rule were construed so as to require knowledge of conclusive proof of a claim before the limitation period begins to run, many claims would never be time-barred.

Beard v. King Cnty., 76 Wn. App. 863, 868, 889 P.2d 501 (1995).

Block filed suit on May 3, 2013. Thus, if she had reason to believe a wrongful act occurred before May 3, 2010, her claims are untimely. Undisputed evidence establishes that she was aware of her alleged claims long before this date, no later than April 2006. Specifically, Block claims to have learned that the UIM fee had been paid to the Barcus firm, over her objection and without her permission, in April 2006. CP 783-84 ¶¶ 16-20; CP 800 ¶ 6. She claims to have protested the UIM fee to Mr. Kram at the time. CP 784 ¶ 21. She advised the Barcus firm in April 2006 that she would "probably never be at peace with the huge fees [the Barcus firm] require[d]." CP 446. Her longstanding awareness of the issue is corroborated by the fact that she first consulted with counsel regarding the issue in November 2006, at Trust expense. Then, in September 2008, shortly after Mr. Barcus declined to buy Block a new home, Block contacted Caryl to ask him to investigate the reasonableness of the UIM fee. CP 531-35; CP 541; CP 906-07 ¶ 6; CP 937-38 ¶ 3. A month later, in October 2008, Block advised Mr. Bush that she wanted to retain Caryl to investigate the claims related to the Barcus firm's fee, and confessed that she had been waiting to pursue the matter until the Barcus firm completed other matters it was pursuing on her behalf. CP 645. Then, in December 2008, Block petitioned the Guardianship Court to permit the Trust to pay Caryl's retainer fee, and stated under oath that she had

protested the fee *at the time it was paid*, and believed the Barcus firm's fee was "unconscionable." CP 645; CP 779-85.

The foregoing notwithstanding, having waited nearly three years after the UIM fee was paid to petition the Guardianship Court for authorization to investigate the matter, having been granted the authority to do so at her own expense, and despite having recently settled a personal legal matter for a net recovery of \$100,000, Block did nothing. She waited almost two more years to retain counsel for that purpose, who then did not file suit for almost another two years. Block's claims are time-barred based on her *actual* knowledge alone, much less knowledge imputed by reasonable investigation.

Even were Block entirely ignorant of the issue – and clearly she was well attuned to it since *before* the UIM settlement – to survive summary judgment Block must *also* show not only that the facts giving rise to her claims were not discovered, but also that they could not have been discovered by due diligence, within the limitations period. *See G.W. Constr.*, 70 Wn. App. at 367. The undisputed evidence proves otherwise. She was by her own admission aware of them at the time, and from the point that she finally retained counsel – June 2011 – she was able to obtain the files and file suit in less than two years, and could have done so months (if not years) earlier had she acted promptly. Any due diligence that needed to be completed before filing suit – if any was actually necessary – could have easily been

accomplished within the limitations period in diligent pursuit of these claims. Block failed to exercise that requisite diligence, and her claims are untimely.

3. Block Cannot Save Her Claims by Renaming Them Breach of Contract

a. Block Cannot Recast Claims for Breach of Fiduciary Duty As Contract Claims

Block's attempt to recast her tort claims as contract claims, thus gaining the benefit of a six-year statute of limitations, fails as a matter of law. The court in Davis v. Davis Wright Tremaine, 103 Wn. App. 638, 14 P.3d 146 (2000), addressed this very argument, and squarely rejected it. It held that claims based on duties that arise by virtue of an attorney/client relationship – e.g., the obligation to charge a reasonable fee – and as opposed to specific contractual duties set out in a written agreement, are not governed by the limitation applicable to written agreements, but rather by the threeyear limitation applicable to torts. See also, Owens v. Harrison, 120 Wn. App. 909, 86 P.3d 1266 (2004) (distinguishing between a breach of contract claim for failure to draft a will from a tort claim for drafting a will negligently). Block attempts to distinguish *Davis* by noting that "[r]easonableness of fees was never at issue" (App. Br. at 30), but this is no answer to its fundamental holding. A party is not entitled to the six-year statute of limitations on a written contract except where the claimed liability is "either expressly stated in a written agreement or . . . follow[s] by natural

and reasonable implication from the promissory language of the agreement, as distinguished from liabilities . . . imported into the agreement from some external source." *Davis*, 103 Wn. App. at 651 (quoting *Bicknell* v. *Garrett*, 1 Wn.2d 564, 570-71, 96 P.2d 592 (1939)). Here, the source of the duty that Block seeks to engraft into the contract are the Rules of Professional Conduct. To suggest that a civil cause of action, sounding in contract, based on alleged RPC violations, is directly contradicted by the Supreme Court's ruling in *Hizey*.

Block does not allege, nor is there evidence, that the Barcus firm breached any specific contractual provision. To the contrary, the undisputed evidence is that the Barcus firm's fee was *exactly* what was specified in the fee agreement. Block clearly understands this distinction because she comments in her brief that if she had "not paid attorney's fees to him, Barcus would have had a six-year statute of limitations period in which to sue her." App. Br. at 26. Block is correct, because if she had not paid the agreed fee under the contract, *that would have been a direct violation of a contractual term*. It would not have been any violation of a non-contractual duty imported into the agreement from an outside source. But that is not her claim here.

In an effort to evade this clear authority, Block cites a series of cases supposedly standing for the proposition that where a client seeks to recover fees or impose "sanctions" against an attorney for violations of ethical duties,

such "claims" for ethical violations "arise[] under the written contract" between the client and attorney. App. Br. at 28-31. This is not so, nor do any of the cases Block cites so hold. For instance, Block implies that Fetty v. Wagner, 110 Wn. App. 598, 36 P.3d 1123 (2001), holds that "a claim to void [a] fee agreement based on ethical violations arises under the written contract," and that the six-year statute of limitations thus applies to such a claim. App. Br. at 28. But the Fetty court specifically declined to decide which statute of limitations applied in that case because it found that plaintiff's claims were timely regardless. Fetty, 110 Wn. App. at 600.

Other cases that Block cites stand only for the unremarkable proposition that an attorney owes fiduciary duties to his or her clients. *See Perez v. Pappas*, 98 Wn.2d 835, 659 P.2d 475 (1983); *Holmes v. Loveless*, 122 Wn. App. 470, 94 P.3d 338 (2004); *Luna v. Gillingham*, 57 Wn. App. 574, 789 P.2d 801 (1990). No one disputes that attorneys owe fiduciary duties to their clients. These cases, however, do not address whether the sixyear statute of limitations applies to breaches of such duties, simply because there was a written retainer agreement.

Still other cases Block cites hold only that Washington courts possess, in appropriate cases, inherent authority to order the disgorgement of fees where an attorney has committed a serious ethical violation. Thus, in *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992), the Supreme Court held that

"[d]isgorgement of fees is a reasonable way to 'discipline specific breaches of professional responsibility, and to deter future misconduct of a similar type." 118 Wn.2d at 463 (quoting *In re Eastern Sugar Antitrust Litig.*, 697 F.2d 524, 533 (3rd Cir 1982)); *see also, Cotton v. Kronenberg*, 111 Wn. App. 258, 275, 44 P.3d 878 (2002) ("The determination of a remedy after a finding of professional misconduct regarding fee agreements is within the discretion of the court."); *Bertlesen v. Harris*, 537 F.3d 1047, 1057 (9th Cir. 2008) (same). The inherent authority of Washington courts to order disgorgement in appropriate circumstances, *as to a claim that is timely brought*, is not the question. The issue here is whether Block can transform tort claims into contract claims by alleging breaches of the Rules of Professional Conduct. These cases offer no support for Block.

Block spills much ink establishing propositions that no one disputes, in an attempt to give the misleading impression that her argument that her claims are governed by the six-year limitations period applicable to breach of contract claims is well-buttressed by precedent. It isn't. In both form and substance, Block seeks to recharacterize what are clear tort claims as contract claims by importing ethical duties imposed by outside sources into the Barcus fee agreement itself. This is precisely the argument that this Court rejected in *Davis*, and should again reject here.

b. Even Claims That Arise Under the Contract Are Untimely

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